
 
 

PLANNING, REGULATORY AND 
LICENSING 

 
5.00 PM WEDNESDAY, 18TH NOVEMBER, 2020 

 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

 
Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 

 
This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 

training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 
 

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above. 

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the  

Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 
contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 

on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

Planning Applications  -  Recommendations under the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 
1991 

3. P/20/0025 - Former Ardagh Site, Dragon Parc, 
Abercanaid, Merthyr Tydfil  

 

 To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

5 - 18 

4. P/20/0102 - 16 The Park, Treharris, CF46 5RH   

 To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

19 - 30 

5. P/20/0176 - 26 Courtland Terrace, Union Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 0DT  

 

 To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

31 - 38 

6. Appeal Decision - P/18/0310   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

39 - 46 

7. Appeal Decision - P/18/0373   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

47 - 50 

8. Appeal Decision - P/18/0377   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

51 - 58 

9. Appeal Decision - P/19/0038   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

59 - 64 

10. Appeal Decision - P/19/0187   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

65 - 70 



11. Appeal Decision - P/19/0249   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

71 - 74 

12. Appeal Decision - P/19/0328   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

75 - 78 

13. Enforcement Appeal Received - PE180110   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

79 - 80 

14. Enforcement Appeal Decision - PE180004   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

81 - 86 

15. Enforcement Appeal Decision - PE180119   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

87 - 90 

16. Enforcement Appeal Decision - PE190018   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

91 - 98 

17. Delegated Report   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

99 - 118 

18. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair   

 
 
 

 
 

 

COMPOSITION: Councillors  C Tovey (Chair)  
                    M Colbran (Vice-Chair) 

  
 Councillors:  H Barrett, D Chaplin, E Galsworthy, 

K Gibbs, C T Jones, G Lewis, D Sammon, J Thomas 
and S Thomas 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 
 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

DATE WRITTEN 4th November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Huw Roberts 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/20/0025 4th February 2020 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Engineering works including 
provision of drainage 
channel/swale and 
culvert/outflow, raising the level 
of the land and creation of site 
access road. 

Former Ardagh Site 
Dragon Parc 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Huntley Wood 
Investments  
c/o Asbri Planning Ltd 
F.a.o. Mr L Griffiths  
Unit 9 Oak Tree Court 
Cardiff Gate Business 
Park 
Cardiff    

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

APPLICATION SITE 
 
The application site, which is relatively flat and measures approximately 2.8 hectares, is 
irregular in shape and once formed part of the former Dragon Parc industrial site. It primarily 
consists of hardstanding areas and rubble following the demolition of buildings within the site. 
The only remaining building, located in the southern corner, links the application site to the 
main Hoover factory (to the east) via a footbridge across the River Taff and railway line. 
 
The site is accessed from the south via a roundabout and adjoins the River Taff and 
remainder of the majority of the former industrial site to the east. The main Abercanaid access 
road bounds part of the western boundary along with a factory and a commercial storage 
business. To the north the site adjoins a small part of the old industrial site beyond which is 
another industrial building and commercial storage/parking facility. 
 
A section of the River Taff embankment is included within the south eastern corner of the 
application site. The site is located within Zone C2 as defined by the Development Advice 
Maps (DAM). A primary trunk water main (of strategic importance) runs in close proximity to 
the application site.  
  
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
The application primarily proposes engineering works to create a swale (i.e. a linear 
depression which transfers surface water overland to a discharge point). The swale would 
run along the western boundary of the site before culminating at the River Taff via a proposed 
culvert/outfall. The culvert would be created beneath the proposed access road and consist 
of two concrete box structures which would measure 2.4m high by 2.4m wide. They would 
have a maximum length of approximately 7.4m. The surface water would flow from the swale, 
via the culvert, down a proposed stepped block-stone cascade into the River Taff. Gabion 
baskets would support the sides of the outfall. 
 
The swale itself would have a length of approximately 590m and a width of approximately 
6m. The depth of the swale would vary, however, for the majority of its length would be 
shallow (less than 1m). As it reaches the culvert its depth increases to approximately 2.5m 
(albeit the sides of the swale would still be relatively gently sloping at this point). The road, 
where it crosses the culvert, would be lined with a timber post and rail specifically designed 
crash barrier. The steeper side slopes of the entrance to the culvert would also be secured 
by guard rails. 
 
The proposal also includes other engineering works which mainly involve minimal raising of 
the level of the land. A small pond would also be created (15m x 15m x 1m deep) 
approximately half way along the western boundary.   
 
The access road would measure approximately 120m in length and run in a straight line from 
the adopted highway (adjoining the roundabout), over the proposed culvert and to the 
boundary with the wider former industrial site. It would be 13m wide (including a 3.5m wide 
cycle path/footpath on the western side and a 1.5m wide cycle path on the eastern side). The 
remaining building and footbridge would be demolished to accommodate the proposed 
works. 
 
 

Page 6



 

 

The application has been supported by the following documents/reports: 
 

 Coal Mining Risk Assessment (Integral Geotechnique January 2020) 

 Desk Study Report (Integral Geotechnique February 2016) 

 Site Investigation Report (Integral Geotechnique April 2019) 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (V3 Ecological Services Wales August 2020) 

 Ecological Impact Assessment (V4 Ecological Services Wales September 2020) 

 Nesting Bird and Bat Friendly Demolition Method Statement (V3 Ecological Services 
Wales October 2020) 

 Arboriculture Report (July 2020) 

 Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) (September 2020 JBA) 

 Flood Consequence Assessment (FCA) (Version 3 JBA February 2020)  

 Hydraulic Model Update (Addendum to FCA JBA July 2020) 

 Japanese Knotweed Management Plan (JBA October 2019) 

 Planning Design and Access Statement (Asbri Planning - December 2018)  

 Demolition Method Statement (Bond Demolition November 2019) 

 Pre-application Consultation Report (PAC) Report (Asbri - November 2018) 
 

 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
P/16/0039 - Demolition of Former Hoover/Candy Office Block and Footbridge - Prior Approval 

not required 1st March 2016. 
 
P/17/0144 - Residential and business (Class Use B1) development (Outline) - Not yet 

determined. 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader: No objection.  
 
Planning Division’s Ecologist: No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Planning Division’s Landscape Architect:  No objection.  
 
Environmental Health Manager:   No response received. 
 
The Coal Authority     No objections subject to conditions. 
  
Natural Resources Wales (NRW):   No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Welsh Water:  No objection subject to conditions.   
 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to the adjoining (and neighbouring) properties and site 

Page 7



 

 

notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site.   A press notice was also published in 
the local newspaper.   
 
No letters of objection were received following this publicity exercise. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 10 (December 2018) sets out the land use policies of 
the Welsh Government. The most relevant paragraphs are: 
 
Paragraphs 3.3 – 3.16 set out the principles of good design in new development proposals, 
which should take into account its relationship to its surrounding context.   
 
Paragraph 3.51 notes that previously developed land wherever possible should be used in 
preference to greenfield sites where it is suitable for development. 
 
Paragraphs 6.4.21 – 6.4.23 note that local authorities should seek to maintain and enhance 
biodiversity and build resilient ecological networks to ensure that any adverse environmental 
effects can first be avoided, mitigated or compensated. Regard should also be given to any 
potential impacts on protected species that may result in disturbance or harm to the species 
or its habitat. 
 
Paragraph 6.6.23 – The continued construction of hard engineered flood defences to protect 
development in areas of floodplain is not sustainable. 
 
6.6.24 – Development Advice Maps enable planning authorities to take a strategic approach 
to flood risk and consider the catchment as a whole by providing preliminary representation 
of flood risks, which inform decisions on the location of new development and the 
requirements necessary to support any applications which may be proposed. 
 
Paragraph 6.9.1 – Understanding the barriers to unlocking the potential of places, including 
the transformation or regeneration of an area or the development of a single site, is a key 
part of achieving sustainable places. Barriers could include dereliction or risks such as 
flooding, land contamination or instability. 
 
Paragraph 6.9.16 – Whenever development or re-development potential exists the planning 
system will be the preferred means of addressing potential land contamination. 
 
Paragraph 6.9.25 states that planning decisions will need to take into account; the potential 
hazard that instability could create to the development itself, to its occupants and to the local 
environment; and, the results of a specialist investigation and assessment by the developer 
to determine the stability of the ground and to identify any remedial measures required to 
deal with any instability. 
 
Paragraph 6.9.27 states that where acceptable measures can overcome instability, planning 
permission may be granted subject to conditions specifying the necessary measures. If 
instability cannot be overcome satisfactorily, the authority may refuse planning permission. 
 

Page 8



 

 

The policies in PPW are supported by Technical Advice Notes (TANs). The most relevant 
TANs to this application are as follows:- 
 
TAN 5 - Nature Conservation and Planning sets out the role of the planning system in 
protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation.   
 
TAN15 - Development and Flood Risk 
 
TAN 18 - Transport describes how to integrate land use and transport planning.  It explains 
how transport impacts should be assessed and mitigated.   
 
Local Policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) 2016-
2031: 
 
Policy SW4 – Settlement boundaries 
Policy SW6 – Hoover Strategic Regeneration Area 
Policy SW11 – Sustainable design and Placemaking 
Policy SW12 – Improving the Transport Network 
Policy EnW1 – Nature Conservation and Ecosystem Resilience 
Policy EnW2 – Internationally and Nationally Protected Sites and Species 
Policy EnW3 – Regionally Important Geological Sites, Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation, Local Nature Reserves and Priority Habitats and Species. 
Policy EnW4 – Environmental Protection 
 
The following Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) are also relevant: 
 
SPG Note 4 – Sustainable Design 
SPG Note 5 – Nature and Development 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The application site lies within the settlement boundary where the majority of new 
development is encouraged and generally supported by Policy SW4 of the LDP.  The site is 
also situated within the Hoover Strategic Regeneration Area (Policy SW6) which is a key 
regeneration site for the County Borough. The concept plan attached to this policy points out 
that the application site, combined with the wider cleared industrial site (Dragon Parc), could 
be a future potential residential site. However, the reasoned justification for Policy SW6 
identifies that the Dragon Parc site is located within flood zone C2. Therefore, highly 
vulnerable development (such as residential development) should not be permitted. This 
application has been specifically submitted in an attempt to overcome the current flooding 
issue to enable a mixed residential/business development. 
 
Given the above, the main considerations of this application would be: 
 

 The flooding consequences of the proposed development;  

 The impact on a primary trunk water main of strategic importance; 

 The visual appearance of the development; 

 Ecological issues; 

Page 9



 

 

 Highway safety issues; and  

 The impact on neighbouring properties. 
 
The Flood Consequences of the Proposed Development. 
 
Although the proposal itself does not fall within any of the vulnerability categories as 
highlighted in TAN15 and is therefore acceptable in a C2 flood zone, the reason for the 
development is to enable the owner/developer to seek a flood map challenge to the DAM. If 
successful, the DAM would be updated and the site removed from the C2 flood zone. 
However, currently for any change to the DAM to be approved the works (subject to this 
application) have to be completed and approved by NRW. If these series of events are 
successful, subject to the details submitted with any future application(s), residential/business 
development on the Dragon Parc site is likely to be acceptable. 
 
To the west of the Dragon Parc site is a small ‘Ordinary Watercourse’ called the Nant Canaid. 
It enters a culverted system which roughly follows the western boundary of the application 
site before it discharges into the River Taff. As pointed out in the FCA ‘when the Nant Canaid 
channel and culvert inlet capacity is exceeded the Dragon Parc site is at risk of flooding’. The 
engineering proposals subject of this application seek to mitigate against the flood risk posed 
by the Nant Canaid.  
 
NRW has considered the FCA and other information (e.g. flood modelling) submitted in 
support of this application and raised no objection to the proposal subject to the development 
being carried out in accordance with the FCA (and associated drawing). NRW have also 
requested conditions to deal with contamination and external lighting. 
 
Given the above, it is considered that the proposal complies with policy EnW4 of the LDP. 
 
The impact on a primary trunk water main of strategic importance 
 
Welsh Water has highlighted that a primary water main (as well as other sewers), which is of 
strategic importance, is in close proximity to the application site. Therefore there is a concern 
that the proposed development could have an adverse impact due to additional loading on 
this asset. In addition, the raising of the levels of the land may have impacts on any future 
maintenance of the water main/sewers. Without knowing the exact depth/location (and thus 
the method of protection required) of the assets Welsh Water are unable to confirm whether 
the proposal would have any detrimental impact. The developer/owner has been asked to 
undertake a site investigation (which would include trial holes to accurately locate the assets) 
but to date no such evidence has been submitted. Although negotiations are ongoing, Welsh 
Water has recommended conditions, which could be attached to any permission, requiring 
site investigations to be undertaken to accurately locate the assets and provide a scheme to 
secure their long-term protection. Given the above, the proposal is considered acceptable 
subject to the recommended conditions. 
 
The visual appearance of the development 
 
The site is derelict, unsightly and, although somewhat hidden by existing buildings and 
landscaping, can be seen from surrounding viewpoints. The introduction of a swale (and 
associated landscaping and a pond) would undoubtedly have a positive impact on the 
appearance of this part of the Dragon Parc site. The access and culvert would have a greater 

Page 10



 

 

visual impact. However, the culvert would be predominantly masked by the proposed road 
and is a feature that is often found adjacent to river embankments. Although it may be initially 
obvious in the landscape (particularly when viewed from the opposite site of the river on the 
main Hoover site), overtime this part of the river embankment would regenerate and the visual 
impact of this part of the development would naturally diminish. As highlighted in PPW, such 
barriers to unlock the potential of regenerating a site (such as Dragon Parc) have to be 
understood and are key parts in achieving sustainable places. It is also noted that the 
demolition of the remaining derelict building and footbridge would also have a positive impact 
on the visual appearance of the area. Given this, the proposal complies with Policy SW11 of 
the LDP. 
 
Ecology  
 
As stated above, the application has been supported by a number of reports which have 
assessed the impact of the development on a number of species (including Otter, bats, 
reptiles, birds and the Great Crested Newt) and their habitats. A number of 
mitigation/protection measures are highlighted in the reports along with a series of 
enhancements. The enhancements include the managed removal of Japanese Knotweed 
within the site, the seeding of the swale with a wetland meadow mixture (subject to details 
submitted via a landscaping condition), the provision of an artificial Otter holt in the river bank 
(close to the culvert outfall) and the siting of 10 bat and 10 bird boxes within the trees along 
the western boundary of the site. Having regard to the assessments undertaken and 
enhancements/mitigation measures being put forward with this application, the Council’s 
Ecologist raises no objection to the scheme.  As such, the proposal complies with policy 
EnW1 of the LDP. 
 
Highway Safety  
 
The Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has raised no objection to the creation of a new 
access to serve the site. The surrounding road network is also suitable to cater for the 
construction traffic required to carry out the development. Once completed the development 
would result in minimal traffic movements. As such the proposal complies with Policy SW11 
of the LDP. 
 
The impact on neighbouring properties 
 
It is noted that there have been no objections to the proposed development following the 
publicity exercise undertaken. However, there is inevitably going to be some noise and 
disturbance as a result of the construction phase of the development. Therefore, it would be 
pertinent to attach a condition to any permission which restricts construction activities to 
sociable hours. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The development of this proposal is essential to aid any future aspirations for the 
regeneration/residential development of the wider Dragon Parc site. Any future development 
proposal(s) will clearly be subject to another planning application(s) which will be determined 
on its own planning merits. The proposal, along with the recommended ecological 
enhancements, would enable a sustainable method of flood management which would have 
positive impacts. As such, the application is recommended for permission. 

Page 11



 

 

  
 
Finally, the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-
Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been taken into 
consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following recommendation, 
the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been considered and thus the 
proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution 
towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as required by 
section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Accordingly the following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS 
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans 

and documents: 
  
 General arrangement plan and long sections (BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-DR-C-0001 Rev. 

P05) 
 Site Sections (Sheet 1 of 2) (BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-DR-C-0002 Rev. P04) 
 Site Sections (Sheet 2 of 2) (BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-DR-C-0003 Rev. P03) 
 Road plan sections and details (BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-DR-C-0010 Rev. P03) 
 Road Section (BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-DR-C-0011 Rev. P03) 
 Site Entrance (BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-DR-C-0012 Rev. P01) 
 Outfall plan (BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-DR-C-0020 Rev. P02) 
 Road and Outfall Elevation (BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-DR-C-0021 Rev. P02)  
  
 Coal Mining Risk Assessment ref. 12392/LP/20/CMRA (Integral Geotechnique 

January 2020) 
 SI Desk Study Report ref. 11708/LW/16/DS (Integral Geotechnique February 2016) 
 SI Report ref. 12392/LW/19/SI (Integral Geotechnique April 2016) 
 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (V3 Ecological Services Wales August 2020) 
 Ecological Impact Assessment (V4 Ecological Wales September 2020) 
 Nesting Bird and Bat Friendly Demolition Method Statement (V3 Ecological Services 

Wales October 2020) 
 Arboriculture Report (July 2020) 
 Construction Environmental Management Plan Ref. BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-RP-EN-0001-

S3-P01-CEMP (September 2020 JBA) 
 FCA Ref. BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-RP-HM-0001-S3-P03-FCA (Version 3 JBA February 

2020)  
 Hydraulic Model Update (Addendum to FCA) (2019s0875 JBA July 2020) 
 Japanese Knotweed Management Plan Ref. BMQ-JBAU-XX-XX-RP-EN-0002-S3-

P01-KMP (JBA October 2019) 
 Demolition Method Statement (Bond Demolition November 2019) 
 Timber crash barrier details received on 13/10/20  

Page 12



 

 

  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the scope 

of the permission. 
 
 3. No development or site clearance shall take place until there has been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of landscaping. 
The scheme shall include indications of all existing trees (including spread and 
species) and hedgerows on the land, identify those to be retained and set out 
measures for their protection throughout the course of development. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the interests 

of amenity and to accord with Policy SW11 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

  
 4. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall 

be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the 
buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees 
or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, 
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of similar size and species. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the interests 

of amenity and to accord with Policy SW11 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
 5. No development shall take place until a 5 year (post development) habitat and 

landscape management plan, including management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all habitats/landscaped areas, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The habitat and landscape 
management plan shall be carried out as approved. 

  
 Reason - To maintain and enhance biodiversity and habitats in accordance with 

Policies SW11, EnW1 and EnW2 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
 6. No development shall take place until a site investigation to accurately locate the 

public strategic watermain has been carried out. The results of the site investigation 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority before any 
development takes place.  

  
 Reason - To ensure that the proposed development does not affect the integrity of the 

public water supply system in the interests of public health and safety. 
 
 7. Following approval of the results of the site investigation (as required by condition 6) 

and before any development takes place, a scheme to secure the protection of the 
structural condition of the watermain during and following the development, hereby 
permitted, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The scheme shall include a programme of implementation for any protection works 
and the development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved 
protection scheme which shall be retained in perpetuity.  

Page 13



 

 

   
 Reason - To ensure that the proposed development does not affect the integrity of the 

public water supply system in the interests of public health and safety. 
 
 8. No development shall commence until a scheme to protect the structural condition 

of the combined sewers crossing the site have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide for any protection 
measures during construction and completion phases of the development.  The 
scheme shall demonstrate the distance and relationship of the proposed development 
with the sewers crossing and include a detailed design, construction method statement 
and risk assessment outlining the measures taken to secure and protect the structural 
condition and ongoing access of the sewers.  No other development pursuant to this 
permission shall be carried out until the approved protection measures have been 
implemented and completed. The approved scheme shall be adhered to throughout 
the lifetime of the development and the protection measures shall be retained in 
perpetuity.   

   
 Reason - To ensure that the proposed development does not affect the integrity of the 

public sewerage system in the interests of public health and safety.  
 
 9. No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or indirectly 

with the public sewerage network.  
  
 Reason - To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect 

the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to 
the environment. 

 
10. Prior to the commencement of development, the following components of a 

scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall each be 
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority:     

   
 1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:  
 (a) All previous uses  
 (b) Potential contaminants associated with those uses  
 (c) A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors  
 (d) Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.       
   
 2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 

assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.      
  
 3. Based on the site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (2) an 

options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation 
measures required and how they are to be undertaken.      

   
 4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 

demonstrate that the works set out in (3) are complete and identifying any 
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and 
arrangements for contingency action.      

   
 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.   

Page 14



 

 

  
 Reason - To protect the controlled waters at this site which are of high environmental 

sensitivity due to proximity of surface watercourses (the River Taff forms the eastern 
boundary of site) and underlying Secondary A Aquifer in accordance with Policy EnW4 
of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
11. Prior to commencement of development, a verification report demonstrating 

completion of the works set out in the approved remediation strategy and the 
effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the 
Local Planning Authority. The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring 
carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the 
site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include any plan (a "long-term 
monitoring and maintenance plan") for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the verification 
plan, and for the reporting of this to the Local Planning Authority.     

  
 Reason - To protect the controlled waters at this site which are of high environmental 

sensitivity due to proximity of surface watercourses (the River Taff forms the eastern 
boundary of site) and underlying Secondary A Aquifer in accordance with Policy EnW4 
of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
12. Reports on monitoring, maintenance and any contingency action carried out in 

accordance with a long-term monitoring and maintenance plan shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority as set out in that plan. On completion of the monitoring 
programme a final report demonstrating that all long- term site remediation criteria 
have been met and documenting the decision to cease monitoring shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.       

  
 Reason - To protect the controlled waters at this site which are of high environmental 

sensitivity due to proximity of surface watercourses (the River Taff forms the eastern 
boundary of site) and underlying Secondary A Aquifer in accordance with Policy EnW4 
of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
13. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 

at the site then no further development shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted and obtained written approval from the Local Planning Authority for, an 
amendment to the remediation strategy detailing how this unsuspected contamination 
shall be dealt with.     

  
 Reason - To protect the controlled waters at this site which are of high environmental 

sensitivity due to proximity of surface watercourses (the River Taff forms the eastern 
boundary of site) and underlying Secondary A Aquifer in accordance with Policy EnW4 
of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
14. Prior to its installation, full details of lighting shall be submitted to and agreed in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. The Lighting Plan should include:   
   
 - Details of the siting and type of external lighting to be used. 
 - Drawings setting out light spillage. 
 - Details of lighting to be used both during construction and/or operation. 

Page 15



 

 

  
 The lighting shall only be installed in accordance with the approved details. 
  
 Reason - To limit the impact on protected species and reduce light pollution in 

accordance with policies EnW2 and EnW4 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
15. No development shall commence until intrusive site investigations have been 

carried out to establish the exact situation in respect of coal mining legacy features. 
The findings of the intrusive site investigations shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority before development commences. 

  
 Reason - The site may be unstable and as such in the interests of safety remedial 

measures may need to be carried out. 
  
16. If the intrusive site investigations (as required by condition 15) identify that coal mining 

legacy on the site poses a risk to surface stability, no development shall commence 
until a detailed remediation scheme to protect the development from the effects of 
such land stability has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Any remedial works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details. 

  
 Reason - The site may be unstable and as such in the interests of safety remedial 

measures may need to be carried out. 
 
17. Before the gabion baskets, hereby permitted, are installed details of the material to be 

used to fill the baskets shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the interests 

of amenity and to accord with Policy SW11 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
18. Demolition or construction works shall not take place outside the hours of 08:00 to 

18:00 Mondays to Fridays and 09:00 to 14.00 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays 
or Public Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the noise emitted/activities are not a source of nuisance to 

occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policies SW11 and EnW4 of the 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
 
  

Page 16



 

 

INFORMATIVES  
 
 1. Natural Resources Wales (NRW) have recommended the following: 
  
 1. Follow the risk management framework provided in CLR11, Model Procedures for 

the Management of Land Contamination, when dealing with land affected by 
contamination.      

   
 2. Refer to Environment Agency document 'Guiding Principles for Land 

Contamination' for the type of information that NRW require in order to assess risks 
to controlled waters from the site. The Local Authority can advise on risk to other 
receptors, such as human health. Refer to Groundwater protection: Principles and 
practice (GP3). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

DATE WRITTEN 4th November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Caroline Pulley 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/20/0102 20th July 2020 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Change of use of property from a 
dwelling (Use Class C3) to a 
children's residential home (Use 
Class C2) 

16 The Park 
Treharris 
CF46 5RH 

Rise Care Ltd  
c/o Mr Jon Hurley 
Unit 9 
Oak Tree Court 
Cardiff Gate Business 
Park 
Cardiff    

 
 

 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



Councillor Gareth Richards has requested that this application be reported to 
Committee due to the concerns raised by residents in relation to the impact of the 
scheme on the character of the area, highway safety and residential amenity.     
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
The application site comprises 16 The Park, which is two-storey, five bedroom, 
detached dwelling situated within the residential area of Treharris. The property is set 
back from the pavement by approximately 9m and is at a higher level to the road. Its 
front elevation is orientated to face south-west onto a gently sweeping driveway, which 
is accessed from The Park via a short section of private road.  The south facing side 
elevation of the property faces onto The Park at an angle.   
 
The property is bound by residential properties on both sides, albeit there is a narrow 
walkway separating the eastern boundary of the property from 17 The Park and a 
small triangular section of land situated between the western boundary and number 7 
Twynygarreg.  To the north, the property adjoins an open grassed verge area, beyond 
which is the access road serving numbers 9 to 35 (odd numbers) Twynygarreg.  To 
the front of the site and on the opposite side of the road is a detached property called 
Ty Chwarel and a row of five houses (numbers 11 to 15 The Park).   
 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Planning permission is sought for the change of use of the existing dwelling (C3 use) 
to a residential children’s home (C2 use) that would provide care for up to four 
children/young people between the ages of 11 and 18 years old.  The children/young 
people would all be on long term care orders and would be under the responsibility of 
their local authority.   They would not have any complex physical or mental health 
needs.  However, the applicant has advised that the children/young people would be 
from disadvantaged backgrounds and may have emotional and/or behavioural 
difficulties, anxiety or educational needs for which they would receive additional 
support from services such as family therapists. 
 
The home would be staffed by a minimum of three residential care workers during the 
day, with two of these care workers carrying out sleep-in duties at night, ensuring a 24 
hour care provision.  The carers would operate a shift pattern, working two consecutive 
shifts, followed by four consecutive days off.  Within this, they would complete two, 15 
hour, shifts between 08:00 and 23:00 hours during the day, with sleep-in duties being 
carried out between 23:00 and 08:00 hours.   
 
In total, the children/young people receiving care would be under the supervision of a 
team of 10 staff consisting of:  
 

 A Registered Manager  

 A Deputy Manager 

 2 Senior Residential Care Workers   

 6 Residential Care Workers 
 

Page 20



The residential care workers would be responsible for the day-to-day running of the 
home (i.e. cleaning, preparing meals, tidying the home, transporting and assisting 
children/young people to their place of education, creating reports for social workers, 
taking children/young people to various activity events).  The Registered Manager 
would oversee the work of the team and would be responsible for creating staff rotas 
and liaising with social workers etc.  The applicant has also confirmed that the 
Manager would operate an ‘On Call’ system for additional support if required.   
 
The submitted plans indicate that the internal layout of the property would be very 
much akin to a residential dwelling.  The ground floor would be laid out to provide a 
living room, dining room, kitchen and office.  At first floor, there would be a staff 
bedroom, a communal bathroom and four other bedrooms for the residents (i.e. the 
children/young people).  Each child/young person would have their own private 
bedroom with one bedroom being allocated for the staff members carrying out sleep-
in duties during the night.   
 
No changes are proposed to the external elevations of the property. However, the 
submitted drawings illustrate some minor changes being made to the layout of the 
front garden to provide four off road parking spaces and a turning area.  These 
alterations include reducing the depth of the raised patio area, which projects forward 
of the main property, and carrying out some minor engineering works to facilitate a 
larger driveway/turning area within the front garden of the property.   
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The planning history relating to the property is as follows: 
 
P/20/0209 - Reconstruction of sections of retaining wall 
   Approved – 29.10.2020 
 
P/20/0072  - Certificate of Lawfulness to use the dwelling (within C3 use class)  
   as a Children’s care home – Refused. 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader -  No objection. 
 
Environmental Health Manager   - No objection.    
 
South Wales Police     -  Raises an objection to the scheme.   

Concern has been expressed that the 
proposed use may lead to additional 
demands being placed on the police, 
particularly if children go missing.  The 
police have noted that they were 
impressed with the company’s 
policies presented to them in a 
meeting and by the examples of the 
successes that they have had with 
their other care homes.  However, 

Page 21



they raise the point that Rise Care 
(the company), may not always be in 
charge of the property.  They are also 
concerned about the close proximity 
of the proposed care home to the 
existing care home at number 2 The 
Park and the risk of increased levels 
of anti-social behaviour in the street.   

   
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to the adjoining properties and three 
site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site.   
 
At the time of writing this report, 20 letters of objection (some of which are from the 
same person/household) have been received to the publicity exercises carried out as 
part of this application.  The concerns raised are as summarised as follows: 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour and crime  
 

 Residents are concerned that there are already two existing care homes 
within the area and by allowing another care home in such close proximity to 
the existing home at 2 The Park it is likely to add to the problem of anti-social 
behaviour and criminal damage.  There is further concern that the approval of 
this application would lead to an over saturation of this kind of business within 
a residential street. 

 There have been incidences of anti-social behaviour, damage to cars and 
property over the years as a result of the operation of the existing care home 
within the area. Residents are concerned that the proposed use of the 
premise would lead to properties in the area being damaged.  

 Concern is raised that the proposal could lead to gang related 

incidents/county lines taking place, particularly with having two care homes in 

such close proximity to one another. It is also noted that the top of the street is 

a gathering place for young people. 

 Residents note that there are vulnerable children living within the area who 

may be affected by the proposed use.   

 A query has been raised as to whether a risk assessment should be carried 

out by the Police and the local authority. A resident alleges that national 

standards state children’s homes should be located in safe areas.   

Highway Safety 
 

 Concern that the proposal would lead to a greater flow of traffic in the street 

and place an extra demand for on-street parking which is said to be limited at 

the moment.   

 It is noted that The Park is a no through road and at the end of the street there 

is a lane which provides access to a farm and a walk through route to 

Treharris Park.  Residents have pointed out that there is a huge footfall of 

Page 22



families who use this lane for access to the park and an increase of traffic 

would be a serious concern.  

 It is noted that the turning area at the top of the street does not form part of 

the adopted highway and this area will not be able to withstand additional 

traffic/usage.  Residents are concerned about the maintenance of this section 

of the road.   

 It is noted that the brick boundary wall adjacent to the road is unsafe. 

 Concern is raised that there is insufficient off-road parking to cater for the staff 

and the proposed parking layout set out by the developer is not achievable. 

 Concern that swept path analysis drawings submitted with the application are 

not an accurate representation of actual traffic flows.   

 

Amenities  
 

 Noise levels from children being looked after at the property. 

 Concern for the safety and wellbeing of local children in the area.  

 The overlooking impact from windows within the side of the house, following 

the removal of the trees adjacent to the southern boundary.  

 Impact of any security lighting that may be proposed.   

 General noise and disturbance to existing residents as a result of increased 

activity within the street (i.e. increased traffic, footfall).  

 Concern for the safety of the children residing at the application property 

given that there is a significant drop into a quarry in Treharris Park.  

 The addition of a care home will have a detrimental impact on the street and 

the environment.  

 The proposed change of use would have a negative impact on property 

values (this is not a material planning consideration).  

 A foster carer in the street is concerned about the negative impact the home 

would have on the foster children residing at her property.   

 Concern that the application property is not safe for the children (trees, broken 

fencing, drop to pavement level etc.). 

 The proposal will change the character of a quiet street. 

 

A letter has also been received from the local ward member Councillor Gareth 

Richards outlining the concerns raised by several local residents living in The Park, 

Treharris and the immediate area.  A letter has also been received from Dawn 

Bowden (MS) highlighting that she has been contacted by many constituents with 

concerns about the care home.  

 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 10 (December 2018) sets out the land use 
policies of the Welsh Government. The most relevant sections are: 
 

Page 23



Sections 3.3 – 3.16 sets out the principles of good design in new development 
proposals, which should take into account its relationship to its surrounding context.  
 
Section 3.11 points out that local authorities have a legal obligation to consider the 
need to prevent and reduce crime and disorder.    
 
Section 4.1.51 states ‘Parking provision should be informed by the local context, 
including public transport accessibility, urban design principles and the objectives of 
reducing reliance on the private car and supporting a modal shift to walking, cycling 
and public transport.’ 
 
The policies in PPW are supported by Technical Advice Notes (TANs). The most 
relevant TAN to this application are as follows:- 
 
TAN 12 - Design advises that the Assembly Government is strongly committed to 
achieving the delivery of good design in the built and natural environment, which is fit 
for purpose and delivers environmental sustainability, economic development, and 
social inclusion at every scale throughout Wales. 
 
Local Policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) 
2016-2031: 
 
Policy SW4 – Settlement boundaries 
Policy SW11 – Sustainable design and Placemaking 
Policy EnW1 – Nature Conservation and Ecosystem Resilience 
Policy EnW2 – Internationally and Nationally Protected Sites and Species 
Policy EnW3 – Regionally Important Geological Sites, Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation, Local Nature Reserves and Priority Habitats and Species 
Policy EnW4 – Environmental Protection 
 
Other guidance consulted 
 
 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No. 5 – Nature and 
Development.  

 

 The Use of Planning Conditions for Development Management Circular (WGC 
016/2014), October 2014 

 
Paragraph 5.27 advises ‘Where an application is made for permanent 
permission for a use which may be ‘potentially detrimental’ to existing uses 
nearby, but there is insufficient evidence to enable the authority to be sure of 
its character or effect, it might be appropriate to grant a temporary permission 
in order to give the development a trial run, provided that such a permission 
would be reasonable having regard to the capital expenditure necessary to 
carry out the development. However, a temporary permission would not be 
justified merely because, for example, a building is to be made of wood rather 
than brick. Nor would a temporary permission be justified on the grounds that, 

Page 24



although a particular use, such as a hostel or playgroup, would be acceptable 
in a certain location, the character of its management may change’. 

 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The key considerations in the determination of this application relate to the principle 
of the proposed change of use and its impact on the character of the area. Its impact 
on highway safety and the amenity of local residents are also important 
considerations.  These matters are discussed in detail below.   
 
Principle of development 
 
The application proposes a change of use of the property from a dwelling to a 
children’s care home falling within use class C2 (Residential Institutions).  There are 
no policies relating specifically to the conversion of existing houses to residential care 
homes within the LDP.  However, the property is located within the settlement 
boundary of Treharris where it has safe and convenient access to key services and 
community facilities.  Moreover, a children’s care home is a type of residential use, 
which is appropriate in a residential area.  As such, the principle of converting the 
property to a children’s care home is acceptable and is in accordance with the overall 
objectives of Policy SW4 of the LDP.   
 
Impact on character and appearance of the area 
 
In terms of the impact of the proposed use on the existing character and appearance 
of the locality, the property would retain its appearance as a large, detached domestic 
property with a garden area and drive/parking area.  There are no changes being 
proposed to the external elevations of the property and the ground works proposed to 
the front garden would have a limited impact on the overall appearance of the property 
and the street.  Notwithstanding the care provided, the proposed use of the property 
would also retain a residential purpose. Therefore, within an area largely dominated 
by housing, it would not harm the character of the area.  It is acknowledged that 
residents have expressed concern that the change of use of this property may change 
the character of the street and lead to an oversaturation of children’s homes within the 
local area.  However, two similar uses in relatively close proximity of each other, does 
not change the overall character of the area which is undoubtedly residential.  
 
The proposal is to provide residential care for up to four children/young people who 
would occupy and live at the property on a long term basis. The children/young people 
and staff would prepare and eat meals together in the dining room and communal 
areas would be shared.  The carers would also sleep in a bedroom.  The staff would 
be responsible for the day-to-day running of the home (i.e. cleaning, preparing meals, 
assisting the children/young people and taking them to and from their place of 
education).  Therefore, the general characteristics of the proposed use are similar to 
those of a large family home providing residential accommodation for up to 4 
children/young people looked after by adults, although with an element of care and 
support.  Based on these facts, it is considered that an established residential area, 
which is in a sustainable location, is an appropriate place for this use.   
 
  

Page 25



Parking and Highway Safety 
 
The supporting information provided with this application indicates that there would 
normally be a maximum of three carers on the premise during the day with two carrying 
out sleep in duties at night.  Shift changes would take place every two days.  Based 
on the information provided by the applicant, it is anticipated that at handover time 
there could be up to a maximum of five members of staff present at the property.  
During this period, there may be an additional demand for parking.  Whilst this is 
acknowledged, the applicant has advised that the staff handover takes place over a 
short period (approximately 30 minutes).  As such, it is not considered that this would 
cause an unacceptable pressure on on-street parking.  Furthermore, the application 
property is located in a sustainable location in close proximity to the local bus station 
in Treharris, which would enable staff to utilise modes of transport other than the car.   
 
In addition to the above, the supporting statement advises that visits to the home would 
not be frequent, due to the nature of safeguarding residents in a care setting.  The 
applicant has explained that the majority of family and professional contact takes place 
away from the home.  The only regular visitors anticipated are social workers, who 
would visit the child/young person approximately once every six weeks.  Taking this 
into account, it is not considered that the demands for parking created by this use 
would be significantly different from the level of parking generated by a large family 
house of 4 or 5 bedrooms.  As such, the use of the property as a small children’s care 
home is unlikely to affect the demand for on-street parking significantly more than if it 
was a dwelling.   
 
Access to the property would be gained, via the existing driveway, from the highway 
serving The Park. No new access into the site is proposed and while highway and 
pedestrian safety concerns have been raised by local residents, there is no clear 
evidence to show that the proposal would result in a significant increase in vehicular 
traffic over and above what would be experienced from a family household.  It should 
also be noted that the Engineering and Traffic Group has not raised any objections to 
the scheme. As such, it is not considered that the level of vehicular movements to and 
from the property would be to an extent which would be detrimental to highway or 
pedestrian safety. The proposal therefore accords which Policy SW11 of the LDP.   
 
Residential Amenity 
 
As highlighted above, the proposed use has many of the characteristics of a large 
family home. However, based on the information submitted with the application, local 
residents are concerned that anti-social behaviour and criminal damage would 
increase as a result of the activities/behaviour of those children/young people residing 
at the property. Objections have also been raised in terms of increased noise and 
disturbance. Furthermore, both residents and the Police are concerned about the 
potential adverse interactions between the children/young people living at the 
proposed site and those at an existing care facility at 2 The Park (approximately 100m 
to the south-east) which could exacerbate such problems.  
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) is clear that crime prevention and fear of crime are social 
considerations which should be given appropriate weight when making planning 
decisions. In this case, there is no evidence and it is impossible to predict whether the 

Page 26



children/young people who may reside at property would involve themselves in anti-
social behaviour, crime or any activities that would harm the amenities of neighbouring 
residents. Nevertheless, the concerns of residents, some based on their experiences 
as a result of residents at the existing care facility (2 The Park) are fully appreciated 
and acknowledged. Based on this lack of evidence and advice in paragraph 5.27 of 
Circular WGC 016/2014: The Use of Planning Conditions for Development 
Management, it is considered a temporary permission for two years is appropriate.  
This would allow sufficient time for the use to become established and for the impact 
upon local residents to be assessed.  It should also be noted that the care home would 
have to be registered with the Care Inspectorate for Wales (CIW) and comply with all 
the necessary legislative requirements.   
 
The intensity of the use of the property would differ to some degree from that of a 
normal household as the level of care and support provided by staff is likely to lead to 
some additional comings and goings compared to its existing use as a dwelling.  
However, the care home would be of a relatively small scale, occupying a maximum 
of 4 children/young people. This is unlikely to result in significantly more 
movements/activities in excess of those which could reasonably be expected in a 
residential area. The application property is a large dwelling benefiting from five 
bedrooms and as such could be occupied by a large family without the need for 
planning permission.  As such, it is not considered the proposal would lead to noise 
levels being generated over and above what would be generated by the running of a 
large family home.   
 
Other matters 
 
One of the objectors has raised concern that a number of trees at the property have 
recently been felled and there is now potential for overlooking from the windows in the 
side of the property.  Members should be aware that consent was not required for the 
felling of the trees (as they were not protected by a Tree Preservation Order).  Also, 
there are no additional windows proposed at the property and the change of use to a 
care home would not result in any significant changes to the internal layout of the 
property or the arrangement of windows and doors. Therefore, there would be no 
difference in terms of overlooking as a result of the proposed care home.   
  
Some of the residents have raised concern over the safety of an existing retaining wall 
located along the southern boundary of the site.  This matter falls outside the remit of 
this planning application.  However, Members should note that the issue is being dealt 
with by the Council’s Building Control Section and planning permission has recently 
been granted to allow sections of the wall (which are deemed to be unsafe) to be re-
built.   
 
A number of residents have raised concern that the proposal would lead to gang 
related incidents/county lines crime taking place.  There is also concern that the 
residents of the property would have a negative and harmful impact on existing 
children living in the area.  There is no reasonable evidence to suggest that this would 
be the case.   
 
The concern that the private turning area at the top end of The Park would not be able 
to withstand additional usage has been acknowledged. However, this is not 

Page 27



considered to be a reason to justify the refusal of planning permission, particularly as 
the proposal would utilise the existing access at the property.    
 
The safety of the children residing at the care home would be a matter for the 
management of the company and the relevant child care services.   
 
Finally, the impact of the proposal on house prices is not a material planning condition.  
 
 
Conclusion 
 
As highlighted above, there is no obvious evidence to indicate that the proposal would 
materially harm the amenity of residents living in the area or result in additional 
crime/anti-social behaviour. The proposal is also unlikely to result in a significant 
increase in vehicular traffic to and from the application property over and above what 
would be experienced from a large five bedroom family home.  Therefore, after careful 
consideration and taking the fears of neighbouring residents into account, a temporary 
two year planning permission is considered appropriate to allow the impact of the 
proposed use to be fully assessed.   
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been 
taken into consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been 
considered and thus the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development 
principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-
being objectives set out as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Accordingly the following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS 
 
  
 
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 

decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
 2. The use, hereby permitted, shall cease on or before years 2 years of the date 

which it commenced. The date of commencement shall be submitted to the 
local planning authority in writing at least 2 weeks before the use commences.   

  
 Reason - Planning permission is granted for a temporary period only having 

regard to the particular circumstances of the application. 
  
  

Page 28



 
 3. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents:  
  
 Proposed floor plan received on 19.05.2020 
 Section AA received on 13.10.2020 
 Site Plan Proposed Drawing no. 2787(C)L(0)11 Revision B received on 

13.10.2020 
 Drawing no. T20.156-ATR-DR-SPA1 received on 13.10.2020 
 Drawing no. T20.156-ATR-DR-SPA2 received on 13.10.2020 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the 

scope of the permission. 
 
 4. The premises shall be used as a children's residential care home for a 

maximum of four children and for no other purpose including any other purpose 
in Class C2 of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes 
Order) Order 1987 or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order.  

  
 Reason - To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain effective control over 

the use of the premises in the interests of highway safety and residential 
amenity in accordance with Policy SW11 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Replacement Local Development Plan.   

 
 5. The parking spaces and turning area shown on drawing 2787(c)L(0)11 Revision 

B shall be provided prior to the development being brought into beneficial use.  
Thereafter, the parking spaces shall be retained in perpetuity for the purposes 
of parking only.  

  
 Reason - In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy SW11 of 

the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Replacement Local Development Plan. 
 
 6. No development shall take place until details, including structural calculations 

and facing materials, of any retaining wall which exceeds 1 metre in height have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
walls shall be completed in accordance with the approved details before the 
development hereby approved is brought into beneficial use.  

  
 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with Policy 

SW11 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local 
Development Plan . 

  
  
 
 
INFORMATIVES  
 
 1. All bats and their roosts are protected against disturbance under UK and 

European legislation.  If works are planned on a building/tree in which bats 

Page 29



are found to be roosting, Natural Resources Wales (NRW) must be contacted.  
They must be given reasonable time to advise as to whether the works should 
be carried out and, if so, the method to be used. 

  
 If work has already commenced and bats are found, or if any evidence that 

bats are using the site as a roost is found, work should cease and NRW 
should be contacted immediately.  

 
 
 

Page 30



 

 
            

 
 

DATE WRITTEN 4th November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Marlene Ferreira 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/20/0176 3rd August 2020 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Convert existing 4 bedroom 
property (over ground and first 
floors) into a 1 bedroom flat at 
ground floor and a two bedroom 
flat at first floor (to include a 
second bedroom within the attic 
space) (C3 use class).  External 
alterations to include  the 
provision of two balconies to the 
rear and installation of new 
windows, doors and roof lights 
and front parking area 
 

26 Courtland Terrace  
Union Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0DT 

Mr Jamie Reynolds  
c/o Letrucco Design 
F.a.o. Mr K Lewis 
Suite 7 
35 Stowpark Circle 
Newport    

 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Councillor A. Barry has requested that this application be reported to Committee in order to 
consider the concerns of local residents, in particular parking, anti-social behaviour and 
whether such a use would be acceptable in this area.    
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
The application site relates to an end of terrace property, 26 Courtland Terrace, located near 
the town centre. The dwelling, which is two-storey at the front and three storey at the rear 
(given that the site slopes down significantly from the east to the west), appears to have been 
extended by means of a three storey rear addition. A side gate provides access to the rear 
of the property. This gate is attached to a double garage (the garage does not form part of 
the application site) located to the north of the site. The property is subdivided into a two 
bedroom flat at lower ground floor level and a four bedroom property at ground and first floor 
levels (which includes a bedroom in the attic). The two bedroom flat is accessed via the side 
access and down steps to a door located at the rear of the property. The four bedroom 
property is accessed via a courtyard/garden to the main front entrance.  
 
The property lies in a predominantly residential area with some commercial uses. The 
property itself adjoins a terraced property to the south, 25 Courtland Terrace, and a plot of 
land to the north. This plot primarily comprises a double garage and grassed area. Union 
Street is to the east and a narrow pedestrian lane to the west.   
 
The application site lies within the settlement boundary – Primary Growth Area and 
Thomastown Conservation Area, as designated by the Merthyr Tydfil Replacement Local 
Development (LDP) 2016-2031.    
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
This application seeks planning permission to convert the existing four bedroom dwelling into 
two self-contained flats. It also proposes external alterations to the front and rear of the 
property which include new windows, roof lights and balcony areas. A parking area is also 
proposed to replace the courtyard/garden to the front of the property. A bin storage area 
would be provided to the northern boundary of the parking area.  
 
The proposed ground floor flat (one bedroom) would be accessed via a communal hallway 
from the main front entrance. It would be served by a bedroom, kitchen, living/dining area 
and a bathroom. The proposed first floor flat (two bedroom) would also be accessed from the 
front entrance via the communal hallway. It would be served by a bedroom, kitchen, 
living/dining area, WC and a bathroom at first floor and a second bedroom within the attic 
space.  
 
The external alterations would include the erection of two rear balcony areas. One of the 
balconies would serve the ground floor flat and the other the first floor flat. The rear ground 
and first floor central windows would be removed and replaced with patio doors (UPVc) which 
would provide access to each balcony. Each of the balcony areas, measuring 5 metres wide 
and 1.5 metres deep, would be constructed with a galvanised steel frame, timber floors and 
would be enclosed to the front by a 1.1 metre high glass balustrade. A glazed privacy screen, 
measuring 1.7 metres in height, would be provided to the north western side of the balconies. 
The first floor large window opening, on the northern side of the rear elevation, would be 
replaced with a new window (UPVc). The first floor large window, on the southern side of the 

Page 32



 

 

rear elevation, would be replaced with a smaller window (UVPc). Three new roof lights would 
be inserted in the roof. One roof light would be centrally located on the front roof profile and 
two roof lights would be located on the rear roof profile.  At the front of the property the parking 
area would be covered in grey paviours. The existing wall and central pier, as well as the 
metal gates, would be removed to provide a wider access for two car parking spaces.     
 
In respect of the existing two bedroom flat at lower ground level, this would be reconfigured 
internally, but would remain as a two bedroom flat. Thus, these works would not require 
planning permission. However, the window and door of the flat would be altered. The window 
would be replaced with a smaller window (UPVc) and the rear door relocated.   
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The following planning history is relevant to this application site:  
 
P/10/0345 – Erect new retaining wall along rear boundaries of 25 and 26 Courtland Terrace 
– Approved: 12th January 2011 
 
CONSULTATION  
 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader     No objection.  
 
Planning Division Policy Group Leader    No objection.  
 
Environmental Health Manager     No objection. 
 
Welsh Water        No objection.  
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
Order (Wales) 2012, letters were sent to neighbouring properties. As a result of this publicity 
exercise, four letters of objection have been received. The concerns raised in the letters have 
been summarised below: 
 

 A conservation area is an area of special architectural character and interest which 
the Council has identified worthy of protection and there are too many properties in 
the area that have already been turned into flats, along Church Street and Courtland 
Terrace.  

 Flats have contributed to anti-social behaviour in the area with frequent Police 
presence. They are a continuous source of aggravation to neighbours, with noisy and 
disruptive residents.  

 We have lived in the area for over 20 years and have sympathetically improved our 
properties. Allowing more flats in the street will devalue our property and undermine 
the conservation area.  

 Littering/fly tipping from the current flats onto the street, or not correctly putting out 
waste, has led to the Council not collecting rubbish and has caused a lot of infestation 
in the area.   

 Parking in the area has always been an issue and the proposed flats would add to this 
problem. The street has double yellow lines and only a small section for residential 

Page 33



 

 

parking. However this is not policed and there are cars parked illegally on a daily basis, 
not leaving enough space for residents, or the staff and patients of the dental surgery. 
Even with the use of the garage and driveway for two vehicles, this would not be 
sufficient to cater for a further two properties. It is only a matter of time until there is an 
accident or incident and the emergency services unable to attend due to the heavily 
congested street. Having flats or a HMO in the area would only make this situation 
worse.  

 It mentioned in the notice that the proposal was for a 1 bedroom flat and a 2 bedroom 
flat, however, having inspected the plans online, it would have a total of 5 bedrooms 
with amenities on all floors, which indicates that this is planning to be a HMO.  

 The proposed balconies would overlook my family whilst we are in our gardens which 
would constitute a great loss of privacy for us.  

 Many families live in this residential area and it is rumoured that the flats will house 
ex-offenders and be used as a half-way house. This would cause my son, who is 
vulnerable, great distress and anxiety.  

 We welcome the restoration of the Synagogue and believe that this area should be 
improved as far as possible. There are many empty buildings across Merthyr Borough 
adequate for conversion to provide social housing.   

 There is grave concerns regarding the lack of communication from the planning 
department about the application.  

 The street cannot accommodate any further houses of multiple occupancy. It already 
has four large properties that have been converted into flats and HMO properties to 
house ex-offenders, homeless and substance abusers. It also has a bed and breakfast 
facility and an extremely busy dentist, all within a small section of the street. Allowing 
more flats would not be acceptable and add to the existing problems we suffer with 
parking, rubbish/fly tipping and public disorder. 

 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Planning Policies  
 
Planning Policy Wales (edition 10, December 2018)  
 
Paragraph 2.2 refers to place making and states that ‘…the planning system should create 
sustainable places which are attractive, sociable, accessible, active, secure, welcoming, 
healthy and friendly. Development proposals should create the conditions to bring people 
together, making them want to live, work and play in areas with a sense of place and well-
being, creating prosperity for all…’ 
 
Paragraph 3.12 discusses movement and states that ‘…Good design is about avoiding the 
creation of car-based developments. It contributes to minimising the need to travel and 
reliance on the car, whilst maximising opportunities for people to make sustainable and 
healthy travel choices for their daily journeys. Achieving these objectives requires the 
selection of sites which can be made easily accessible by sustainable modes as well as 
incorporating appropriate, safe and sustainable links (including active travel networks) within 
and between developments using legal agreements where appropriate…’ 
 
Paragraphs 6.1.5, 6.1.7 and 6.1.8 refers to the historic environment and states that ‘…the 
planning system must take into account the Welsh Government’s objectives to protect, 
conserve, promote and enhance the historic environment as a resource for the general well-

Page 34



 

 

being of present and future generations. The historic environment can only be maintained as 
a resource for future generations if the individual historic assets are protected and 
conserved…It is important that the planning system looks to protect, conserve and enhance 
the significance of historic assets.  
 
Local Planning Policies  
 
The following policies within the Merthyr Tydfil Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) 
2016 – 2031 are relevant to the determination of this application: 
 

Policy SW1: Provision of New Homes. 
Policy SW4: Settlement Boundaries. 
Policy SW9: Planning Obligations. 
Policy SW11: Sustainable Design and Placemaking. 
Policy CW1: Historic Environment. 
Policy EnW1: Nature Conservation and Ecosystem Resilience 
Policy EnW4: Environmental Protection. 

 
Other Guidance: 
 
Thomastown Town Conservation Area Appraisal (July 2014) 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The issues to consider under the assessment of this application relate to whether the 
proposal would be acceptable in principle in this location, as well as in respect of its impact 
on the character and appearance of the existing property and conservation area, residential 
amenity, ecology, parking provision and highway safety.  
 
Principle of Development  
 
The existing property lies within the settlement boundary and the proposed conversion of a 
dwelling into two flats would therefore be in accordance with LDP Policy SW4, since new 
development in this location is acceptable in principle, provided it complies with other relevant 
policies. 
 
Character and Appearance 
 
The external alterations to the dwelling are mainly proposed to the rear. The balconies would 
be finished with a galvanised steel frame and glass balustrade enclosures. The use of glazing 
and minimal steel frames significantly reduces the visual impact of these additions and thus 
they would not dominate the rear of the property. They would therefore result in modern but 
acceptable additions. The replacement windows and doors would match those already 
present on the property. Likewise, the addition of three roof lights, one to the front and two to 
the rear would be acceptable. Indeed, the use of roof lights in the front and rear roof profiles 
is evident in the street and as such would not be inappropriate in the conservation area.  
 
The existing front wall and central pier are to be removed, to allow for the provision of on-site 
parking. Along this side of Courtland Terrace there are a variety of front boundary 
enclosures/treatments which also include garages (some of which form part of the front 

Page 35



 

 

elevation of modern properties). Indeed, the double garage adjacent to the application site is 
particularly prominent and is visually detrimental to the appearance of the street scene.  
Therefore the character and appearance of the street is varied. As such, the removal of a 
small section of wall and a stone pier would not harm the character or appearance of the 
conservation area. In addition, the natural stone piers either side of the wall and gates would 
remain in place and would continue to frame the entrance into the property.   
 
The use of the property as flats would also preserve the character and appearance of 
conservation area. The external appearance of the property would still be viewed as a 
dwelling and its residential use would continue to complement the character of the area. 
 
The use of the property and proposed alterations are therefore considered acceptable and 
would not detract from the character or appearance of the property or the conservation area. 
As such the proposal accords with LDP Policies CW1 and SW11.   
 
Residential Amenity 
 
The proposal would not have any significantly greater impact on neighbouring residents, in 
terms of an overbearing form of development or overlooking, than that which currently exists. 
Whilst new windows and patio doors, are proposed to serve the flat, these would be installed 
in existing openings and would therefore be replacing existing windows. Indeed, some of the 
large windows would be replaced with smaller windows and as such, would provide less 
opportunity for overlooking. It is appreciated that new balcony areas would be provided and 
objection letters have raised concerns in this respect. These would only measure 5 metres 
wide and 1.5 metres deep and as such, would not project out significantly from the rear wall 
of the property. They would also be largely screened from neighbouring properties to the 
south, since the existing rear projection extends 4.3 metres from the rear elevation of the 
property. Whilst the balcony areas would also be sited adjacent to the adjoining plot to the 
north, it should be noted that this plot only comprises a double garage. However, given the 
relationship with this neighbouring site, a 1.7 metre high obscure glazed screen, is proposed 
to the north-western corner of the ground and first floor balcony areas to prevent any 
overlooking to this neighbouring site (in the event that it is subject to any development in the 
future). With regards to the neighbouring properties located to the rear, the site slopes 
significantly downwards and at an angle that would make any overlooking into these 
properties very difficult, particularly since there are very high retaining walls which have been 
constructed to the rear of this property and others along this lane. Indeed, any overlooking 
would not be significantly greater than that which exists at present.    
 
The proposed flats should not result in a development which would cause significant noise 
or disturbance to neighbouring residents above that which could occur from the existing use 
of the property. It should be noted that only one additional residential unit is proposed and, in 
total, the number of bedrooms serving the proposed flats would be three i.e. one bedroom 
less than the four bedroom property they would replace. As such, the potential for noise and 
disturbance would be very similar to the existing four bedroom property. Whilst the objections 
refer to a House of Multiple Occupation (HMO), this proposal would not result in a HMO (Use 
Class C4). If permitted, the proposal would result in 2 flats falling within Use Class C3 (this 
has been confirmed by the applicant). The objections raised in respect of noise and 
disturbance and anti-social behaviour are noted, however, the Police and/or Environmental 
Health have the responsibility for dealing with such matters. It should also be noted that the 
Environmental Health Manager has not raised any objection to the proposal. Thus, it is 

Page 36



 

 

considered that the proposal would not have a significant adverse impact on the amenities of 
nearby occupiers and would therefore comply with LDP Policy SW11.      
 
Ecology 
 
Given evidence of protected species within the vicinity of the site, the Council’s Ecologist 
requested that a Preliminary Ecological Assessment (PEA) be submitted in support of the 
application. A PEA and plans indicating the provision of bat and bird boxes were submitted 
and considered by the Council’s Ecologist. He raised no objections to the proposal providing 
the development was carried out in accordance with the report and plans. This requirement 
could be secured by recommended condition 2 if permission is granted. As such, the 
proposed development complies with LDP Policy EnW1.    
 
Parking and Highway Safety 
 
The proposed two flats would be served by two on-site parking spaces within the front 
courtyard. There would therefore appear to be a benefit in providing off-street parking for the 
property which currently does not exist. In addition, the site lies in a highly sustainable 
location, being located within walking distance of shops and services. It is also located in 
close proximity to the bus station and railway station. As such, the provision of two on-site 
car parking spaces to serve the proposed flats would be considered an improvement to the 
current parking situation on-site and has not raised any significant concerns. The Engineering 
and Traffic Group Leader has therefore not objected to the application and the proposal would 
be in accordance with LDP Policy SW11. 
 
Responses to Representations  
 
Some of the concerns raised by local residents have been considered above. Other 
objections raised are addressed below: 
 

 Litter, fly-tipping and infestation are not planning matters, however, it should be noted 
that a bin storage area is proposed to the front of the property.   

 The illegal parking of cars in the street (i.e. on double yellow lines or within resident 
only spaces) is not a planning matter;    

 The occupiers of the flats would not be a planning consideration;  

 The loss of value of neighbouring properties is not a material planning consideration; 

 In terms of the publicity exercise undertaken, two site notices were erected near the 
site and adjoining occupiers were consulted by letter. Thus, the local planning authority 
has complied with the relevant legislation.  

 
Conclusion 
 
This application has been carefully assessed and whilst the concerns of residents are fully 
appreciated, for the reasons stated above, it is considered that the proposal complies with 
the relevant LDP policies and as such is acceptable.  
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been taken into consideration 
when determining this application. In this respect, it is noted that the Council’s Local 
Development Plan puts sustainability at its core.  Delivering a mix of quality housing through 

Page 37



 

 

the re-use of vacant buildings or brownfield land, within existing settlements, is key.  The 
ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been considered and thus the 
proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution 
towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as required by 
section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 

Accordingly the following recommendation is made: 
 

RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS: 
 

 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision. 
  

 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans 
and documents:  

  

 - Drawing no: LT2004.04.02, Rev: E, received: 30th October 2020; 
 - Ecological Services Ltd, Bat Survey: 26 Courtland Terrace, Merthyr Tydfil, received: 

29th October 2020; 
  

 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the scope 
of the permission. 

 

 3. No development shall take place until details of the construction of the front car park 
and bin storage area, shown on Drawing no: LT2004.04.02, Rev: E, received: 30th 
October 2020, to include details of the disposal of surface water, have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The car parking area and 
bin storage area shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to 
the occupation of the flats and shall remain available for their designated use in 
perpetuity. 

  

 Reason - To ensure that vehicles are parked off the highway in the interests of road 
safety, to prevent the discharge of surface water onto the public highway and in the 
interest of visual amenity, in accordance with Policies SW11 and EnW4 of the Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

  

 4. Before the rear balcony areas hereby permitted are brought into use a 1.7 metre 
high frosted glass privacy screen shall be fitted to the north western corner of the 
balcony area at ground floor and at first floor (as shown on Drawing no: LT2004.04.02, 
Rev: E, received: 30th October 2020), details of which shall first be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority. Each of the glazed privacy screens 
shall be permanently retained in that condition thereafter. 

  
 Reason - In the interest of residential amenity and to accord with Policy SW11 of the 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 
  
 
INFORMATIVES  
 
 1. The developer is advised to contact the County Borough Council's Head of 

Engineering regarding any retaining works or other works affecting the highway 
BEFORE construction works commence. 

Page 38



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 3rd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 3rd November 2020 
 

 
Application No. 

 
Date 

 
Determining Authority 

P/18/0310 21.08.18 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Erection of 10 light industrial 
units (use class B1) with 
associated access road and 
parking areas 

Land To The South Of 
Unit 7 
Efi Industrial Estate 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Mr & Mrs Raynes 
C/O George + Co 
Hwyl Hub 
1st Floor Woodfired Studios 
62 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DE 

 

 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/19/322505 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  05.09.19 
DECISION:    DISMISSED 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



 

Page 40



 

Page 41



 

Page 42



 

Page 43



 

Page 44



 

Page 45



 

Page 46



FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 

P/18/0373 16.10.2019 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   

Proposed 4 bedroom house Land Off Tramroadside 

And To The Rear (north) 

Of Six Bells Estate 

Heolgerrig 

Merthyr Tydfil 

Mr Ben Smith 

C/o Agent 

Prospero Planning 

The Gate 

Keppoch Street 

Cardiff 

CF24 3JW 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/20/3246989 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  16th June 2020 
DECISION:    Dismissed 
  

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 Page 48



 
 

 
 
 Page 49



 
 

 
 

Page 50



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 3rd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Marlene Ferreira 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 
 

 
Application No. 

 
Date 

 
Determining Authority 

P/18/0377 11.12.18 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Change of use from a 
dwelling into a self contained 
flat at lower ground floor and 
two, one bedroom holiday 
lets, (one at ground floor and 
one at first floor) to include 
the installation of two air 
conditioning units and new 
windows and doors to the 
rear of the property 
(Retrospective) 

3 Union Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0EB 

Mr Crimmings 
 

 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/20/3248956 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  02.09.20 
DECISION:    ALLOWED 
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



 

Page 52



 

Page 53



 

Page 54



 

Page 55



 

Page 56



 

Page 57



 

Page 58



FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 
 

 

Application No. 

 

Date 

 

Determining Authority 

P/19/0038 13.02.2019 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   

Proposed chalet 

development (4-6 units) with 

access and parking 

Merthyr Tydfil Golf 

Club 

Cloth Hall Lane 

Cefn Coed 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF48 2NT 

Merthyr Tydfil Golf Club Limited 

Cilsanws Mountain 

Cloth Hall Lane 

Cefn Coed 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF48 2NT 

 

 
 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/19/3240540 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  28th NOVEMBER 2019 
DECISION:    DISMISSED 

 

 Page 59

Agenda Item 9



 

Page 60



 
  

Page 61



 
  

Page 62



 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 3rd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 
 

 
Application No. 

 
Date 

 
Determining Authority 

P/19/0187 15.07.19 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Single dwelling with detached 
garage 

Land Adjoining Eirlys 
Park Terrace 
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
 

Mr John Watkins 
C/O Mrs J Watkins-Williams 
Zion Chapel 
Begelly 
Saundersfoot 
SA68 0XE 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/20/3249156 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  01.09.20 
DECISION:    DISMISSED 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



 

Page 66



 

Page 67



 

Page 68



 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Rebecca Owens 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 
 

 

Application No. 

 

Date 

 

Determining Authority 

P/19/0249 12.09.2019 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   

Retention of decking to front 

garden 

21 High Trees 

Trefechan 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF48 2LE 

Mrs C Morris 

C/o Agent 

Mr A Collins 

21 Park Place 

Pontmorlais 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF47 0DJ 

 

 
TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/D/20/3244800 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  6th MARCH 2020 
DECISION:    DISMISSED  Page 71

Agenda Item 11



 
 
  

Page 72



 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 3rd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Rebecca Owens 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 
 

 

Application No. 

 

Date 

 

Determining Authority 

P/19/0328 16.12.2019 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   

Erection of timber fence 2 Taff Fawr Close 

Pontycapel Road 

Cefn Coed 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF48 2RF 

Mr A Uygun 

2 Taff Fawr Close 

Pontycapel Road 

Cefn Coed 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF48 2RF 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/D/20/3248108  
DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  21st July 2020 
DECISION:    Dismissed Page 75

Agenda Item 12



 

Page 76



 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – ENFORCEMENT APPEAL RECEIVED  
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 3rd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Sara Thomas 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 
 

 
Application No. 

 
Date 

 
Determining Authority 

PE/18/0110 10.09.18 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Siting of a static caravan Land Adjacent To 
Ynysygored Cottages 
Aberfan Road 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QD 

 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   Against Enforcement 
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/C/20/3258177 
DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  18th September 2020 
 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION –  ENFORCEMENT APPEAL DECISION 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 3rd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Nia Chard 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 
 

 

Application No. 

 

Date 

 

Determining Authority 

PE/18/0004 22.05.2019 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   

Unauthorised works to listing 

building 

27 Williamstown 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF47 8PD 

Mr J Durkan 

27 Williamstown 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF47 8PD 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST LISTED BUILDING ENFORCEMENT   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/F/20/324761 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  11TH MARCH 2020 

DECISION: DISMISSED - LISTED BUILDING ENFORCEMENT NOTICE 
UPHELD 

 

 

 

 
Page 81

Agenda Item 14



 

Page 82



 
Page 83



 
Page 84



 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – ENFORCEMENT APPEAL DECISION 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 3rd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Sara Thomas 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 
 

 
Application No. 

 
Date 

 
Determining Authority 

PE/18/0119 15.10.18 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Erection of heras fencing and 
siting of vehicle used for 
storage 

Tramroadside 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5AR 

 

 

 

 
 
 
TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST ENFORCEMENT  
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/C/19/3238677 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  28.01.20 
DECISION:    DISMISSED – ENFORCEMENT NOTICE UPHELD 

Page 87

Agenda Item 15



 

Page 88



 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION –  ENFORCEMENT APPEAL DECISION 
 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 3rd November 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Nia Chard 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November 2020 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 

PE/19/0018 24.02.2020 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Appellant 
   

Change of use of land within the 

carpark to accommodate 2 No. 

sales pitches 

Trago Mills Development 

Site 

Swansea Road 

Merthyr Tydfil 

Trago Mills Ltd 

Twowatersfoot 

Liskard 

Cornwall 

PL14 6HY 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST ENFORCMENT    
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/20/3246448 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  24th August 2020 
DECISION:    Notice Quashed 

 Page 91

Agenda Item 16



 Page 92



 

Page 93



 

Page 94



 

Page 95



 

Page 96



 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION 

 

 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST:  1st January 2020 – 30th September 

2020 

 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/19/0001 Former Labour 
Exchange 
Penydarren Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

The retention of an affordable housing 
scheme (8 flats) and associated off-
street parking.  Re-grading and 
engineering works to provide a 
reinstated landscaped embankment on 
land to the north east of the flats 
 

Full Approval 20/03/2020 

P/19/0177 Land at the Paddocks 
Nant-Y-Fedw 
Bedlinog 
CF46 6UF 
 

Creation of horse exercise area Full Approval 14/09/2020 

P/19/0192 Former Ebenezer 
Chapel 
Pontycapel Road 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Convert premises into 2, 2 bedroom 
flats and 2, 1 bedroom flats, with 
associated amenity space and parking 
provision 

Full Approval 25/06/2020 

P/19/0245 Land Opposite 1-11 
Heol-y-bryniau 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of 7 dwellings Full Approval 13/02/2020 

P/19/0265 62 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DE 

Convert existing attic into a one 
bedroom flat to include a flat roof 
dormer and roof light to side elevation. 
Convert office and staff bedroom at first 
floor into one bedroom flat.  Convert 
basement in support of restaurant use.  
Erect first floor rear extension and 
other external alterations 
 

Full Approval 29/01/2020 

  

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November, 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 18th November, 2020 

Page 99

Agenda Item 17



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/19/0280 34 The Hawthorns 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2EJ 
 

Increase the roof height of the dwelling 
and erect two storey and single storey 
rear extensions 

Full Approval 08/01/2020 

P/19/0286 17 Wingfield Street 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4RA 
 

Alterations to rear and side wall of 
existing dwelling and construction of 
single storey side/rear extension 

Full Approval 21/01/2020 

P/19/0287 Cyfarthfa Lodge 
Gwaelodygarth Lane 
Gwaelodygarth Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Use of existing building as a dwelling 
and erection of a detached garage 

Full Approval 04/05/2020 

P/19/0290 10 Bro-y-ffrwd 
Gellideg 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1NH 
 

Creation of 6 No. off street parking bays Full Approval 30/03/2020 

P/19/0294 40 Chester Close 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1SW 
 

Rear extension and front bay window Full Approval 06/01/2020 

P/19/0299 72 Shirley Drive 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1SF 
 

Two storey side extension and single 
storey side extension 

Full Approval 02/01/2020 

P/19/0301 10 Ninth Avenue 
Galon Uchaf 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9TL 
 

Proposed two storey rear extension Full Approval 06/03/2020 

P/19/0302 Land At Cropthorne 
Stables 
Shingrig Road 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
 

Proposed Indoor menage building, 
horse walker / exerciser and the 
retention of the hardcore area 

Refusal 07/02/2020 

P/19/0303 Rear Of Six Bells Inn 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1RP 
 

Retention of garage Full Approval 13/01/2020 

  

Page 100



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/19/0304 Land Adjacent To Unit 
1B 
Cyfarthfa Industrial 
Estate 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Change of use of land and siting of hot 
food / catering trailer with canopy 

Full Approval 09/01/2020 

P/19/0305 4 Bridge Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4JX 
 

Change of use to a cafe (A3 use).  
Provision of a first floor flat and new 
side access door 

Full Approval 17/03/2020 

P/19/0308 Trago Mills 
Development Site 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of externally illuminated 
freestanding sign 

Advertisement 
Approval 

16/01/2020 

P/19/0309 Bus Station 
Castle Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Temporary change of use of the first 
floor of the building adjacent to and to 
the east of the bus station to provide a 
homeless shelter between January 2020 
and March 2020 
 

Full Approval 07/01/2020 

P/19/0310 2 Somerset Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2PA 
 

Demolish existing bungalow and 
construct three bedroom, two storey 
house with detached garage 

Refusal 24/01/2020 

P/19/0311 1 Vulcan Buildings  
Brecon Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8NH 

Partial change of use of ground floor 
from residential (C3 use class) to 
takeaway (A3 use class) and installation 
of flue to rear and shopfront to front 
elevation 
 

Full Approval 27/01/2020 

P/19/0312 Table Table 
Pentrebach House 
Duffryn Road 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4BB 
 

Replacement of 75 no. timber framed 
windows with PVCU windows 

Refusal 28/01/2020 

P/19/0313 40 Riverside Park 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8PQ 
 

Proposed rear extension to existing rear 
annexe 

Full Approval 08/01/2020 

P/19/0314 1 Morlais Buildings 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UL 
 

Remove roller shutter and install a new 
shop front.  Reinstate chimney stack 
and historic detailing.  Repair and 
replace windows, repair stonework, 
brick wall and rendered elevations 
 

Full Approval 16/01/2020 

Page 101



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/19/0316 1 Fernhill Close 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4LU 
 

Construct garage Full Approval 16/01/2020 

P/19/0317 Prince Charles Hospital 
Gurnos Road 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9DT 
 

Erect two portacabins (temporary 
consent) 

Full Approval 21/01/2020 

P/19/0320 22 Cedar Close 
Dan Y Graig 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0LX 
 

Erect two storey rear extension Full Approval 23/01/2020 

P/19/0321 Antrac Motors 
Rock Garage 
Cardiff Road 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5EH 
 

Front workshop extension Full Approval 13/01/2020 

P/19/0322 Ty Heulwen 
18 Pandy Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8PB 
 

Side and rear single storey extensions Full Approval 24/01/2020 

P/19/0324 Fairmead  
Pentwyn Road 
Treharris 
CF46 5BS 
 

Remove rear conservatory and porch 
and construct new rear single storey 
extension 

Full Approval 24/01/2020 

P/19/0325 Land At Junction Of 
Walter Street And  
Mount Pleasant Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Remove condition 5 (drainage) of 
planning permission P/19/0071 

Removal or 
variation of 
Condition - Ref 

07/02/2020 

P/19/0326 28 Incline Top 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0TJ 
 

Detached garage Full Approval 04/05/2020 

P/19/0328 2 Taff Fawr Close 
Pontycapel Road 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2RF 
 

Erection of timber fence Refusal 04/02/2020 

Page 102



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/19/0329 Land At Maesynant 
Grove Park 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Variation of condition 3 of planing 
permission P/16/0164 to extend the 
period of time for the submission of 
reserved matters details for a single 
dwelling 
 

Removal or 
Variation of 
Condition - 
App 

20/04/2020 

P/19/0330 Prince Charles Hospital 
Gurnos Road 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9DT 
 

Change of use of nurse accommodation 
block from residential to offices 

Full Approval 27/01/2020 

P/19/0334 9 Oakland Street 
Bedlinog 
Treharris 
CF46 6TE 
 

First floor rear extension and external 
alterations 

Full Approval 27/01/2020 

P/20/0002 Ty Lynian 
90 Beacon Heights 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1NN 
 

Erect wrap around conservatory to the 
rear and side of property 

Full Approval 21/02/2020 

P/20/0003 19 Argyle Street 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0NS 
 

Erect garage to the rear of the property Full Approval 21/02/2020 

P/20/0004 67A High Street  
Dowlais Top 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3PW 
 

Retention of conservatory Full Approval 05/02/2020 

P/20/0006 Parcel Of Land To The 
North West Of  
Orbit Business Centre  
Rhydycar Business Park 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Change of use of land to overflow car 
park and associated works including re-
surfacing and drainage 

Full Approval 18/02/2020 

P/20/0007 Prince Charles Hospital 
Gurnos Road 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9DT 
 

Erect two storey side extension to 
Emergency Care Centre to provide 
Medical Day Unit 

Full Approval 25/02/2020 

  

Page 103



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0008 80 Westwood Drive 
Treharris 
CF46 5BL 
 

Remove deadwood and snapped branch 
of Beech Tree 

Tree Works 
Approval 

17/01/2020 

P/20/0009 39 Cottrell Street 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QU 
 

Rear garage Full Approval 14/02/2020 

P/20/0010 Land Adjacent To 
Brondeg 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construct detached dwelling Refusal 24/02/2020 

P/20/0011 Taff Bargoed Park  
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
 

Construction of two dug-outs (in 
association with existing playing field) 

Full Approval 14/02/2020 

P/20/0012 27 The Hafod 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2EB 

Demolish front porch and construct 
single storey front extension and two 
storey rear extension.  New boundary 
treatment to rear to facilitate  a parking 
space 
 

Full Approval 21/02/2020 

P/20/0013 Prince Charles Hospital 
Gurnos Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9DT 
 

Erect two storey building in the car 
parking area to the south of the main 
hospital (temporary) 

Full Approval 24/03/2020 

P/20/0014 2 High Trees 
Trefechan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2LE 
 

Proposed side and rear extension Full Approval 24/02/2020 

P/20/0015 23 Anthony Hill Court 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4AZ 
 

Convert garage into living 
accommodation 

Full Approval 24/02/2020 

P/20/0016 24 Trevithick Gardens 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0RP 

Proposed single storey rear / side 
extension 

Full Approval 24/02/2020 

P/20/0017 Trelewis Primary School  
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6AH 
 

New classroom building with an 
associated sheltered walkway to the 
existing school 

Full Approval 30/07/2020 

  

Page 104



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0019 Former Citizens Advice 
Bureau 
Lower Thomas Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Non material amendment to splay 
external wall at flat 5 (rear courtyard) to 
accommodate existing right of access to 
23 Lower Thomas Street 
 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

12/02/2020 

P/20/0022 Capel Salem Kingdom 
Hall  
20 New Castle Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0BH 

Variation of condition 2 of planning 
permission P/19/0139 to remove 
cupola on roof and replace with roof 
light on rear roof slope.  Change of front 
door design and alterations to the front 
and side elevation window design 
 

Removal or 
Variation of 
Condition - 
App 

30/04/2020 

P/20/0023 Capel Salem Kingdom 
Hall  
20 New Castle Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0BH 

Variation of condition 2 of Listed 
Building Consent P/19/0140 to remove 
cupola on roof and replace with roof 
light on rear roof slope.  Change of front 
door design and alterations to the front  
and side elevation window design 
 

Listed Building 
Approval 

21/05/2020 

P/20/0024 Land To The Rear Of 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Village 
Rhydycar 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of new office building with 
associated parking 

Full Approval 18/05/2020 

P/20/0027 28 Edward Street 
Treharris 
CF46 5LF 

Convert part of ground floor to a 1 bed 
flat. Proposal to include associated 
external works 
 

Full Approval 02/03/2020 

P/20/0030 Taff And Crescent Street 
Merthyr Vale 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Demolish all terrace properties and 
garages 

Approval not 
Required 

02/03/2020 

P/20/0033 Thirlmere 
Pentwyn Deintyr 
Treharris 
CF46 5EA 
 

Increase height of existing bungalow, 
erection of a rear extension featuring a 
dormer within the roof space and 
creation of additional car parking within 
front garden 

Full Approval 20/04/2020 

P/20/0035 1 Cyfarthfa Gardens 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2SE 
 

Proposed side extension and rear 
replacement extension 

Full Approval 02/04/2020 

  

Page 105



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0036 Land Adjacent To  
1A Blaen Dowlais 
Dowlais Top 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of a pair of semi detached 
dwellings with off road parking 

Refusal 02/04/2020 

P/20/0037 2 Morlais Buildings 
High Street 
Pontmorlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UL 
 

Refurbish existing building to include 
new shopfront.  Change of use to flat at 
first and second floor, to provide two, 
one bedroom flats.  Demolish garage to 
the rear to provide new parking area 

Full Approval 22/09/2020 

P/20/0038 9 Holford Street 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2RN 
 

Single storey side / rear extension Full Approval 18/03/2020 

P/20/0039 Former Vicarage Of 
Cyfarthfa Christ Church 
Plwmp 
Heol S O Davies 
Georgetown 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1DR 
 

Remodelling and extensions to existing 
dwelling, creation of external terrace 
and other works within the curtilage 

Full Approval 07/09/2020 

P/20/0040 Land To The Rear Of  
8 Summerhill Place 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 

Change of use of land and construction 
of detached domestic garage 

Full Approval 23/03/2020 

P/20/0042 General Dynamics Land 
Systems Ltd 
Merthyr Road 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4LA 
 

Variation of condition 7 of planning 
permission P/15/0130 to allow the test 
track to be used Monday to Friday 
08.00 - 18.00 hours, Saturday 09.00 - 
17.00 hours and temporarily on 
Sundays between 10.00 and 16.00 
hours 
 

Removal or 
Variation of 
Condition - 
App 

02/04/2020 

P/20/0043 23 Ty Llwyd Parc 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5LA 
 

Two storey side and rear extension Full Approval 02/04/2020 

P/20/0045 Shalom 
27 Lancaster Villas 
Lancaster Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8SN 
 

Demolish existing rear extension and 
construct single storey rear extension 

Full Approval 30/03/2020 

  

Page 106



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0046 Tesco Store 
Tramroadside 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0AL 
 

Install one vehicle charger and one 
vehicle fast charger in the car parking 
area 

Full Approval 30/03/2020 

P/20/0047 Tesco Store 
Tramroadside 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0AL 
 

Advert consent for the erection of 1 
media screen and 3 flagpole signs 

Advertisement 
Approval  

30/03/2020 

P/20/0048 1 Perthygleision Bridge 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4PP 
 

Single storey rear extension with 
associated retaining works 

Full Approval 30/04/2020 

P/20/0049 Autumn Leaves 
Grawen Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NP 
 

Non material amendment to planning 
permission P/16/0262 to replace roof 
lights with windows in the western 
elevation 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

17/03/2020 

P/20/0050 Land To The North Of 
Lewis Square And 
West Of Glyndyrus 
Close 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YL 
 

Proposed campsite comprising 8 
glamping pods, 2 shepherds huts, 12 
touring pitches, 8 tent pitches, 
toilet/welfare block and bike store 

Full Approval 09/04/2020 

P/20/0053 21 St Donats Close 
Castle Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1JP 
 

Construct single storey extension to the 
side of the property 

Full Approval 02/04/2020 

P/20/0054 Trago Mills  
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Change of use of land within the car 
park to accommodate 2 No. sales 
pitches 

Refusal 09/04/2020 

P/20/0055 Land At East Street And 
Upper Union Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Variation of condition 2 of appeal 
decision APP/U6925/A/19/3231012 
(application P/18/0330) 

Removal or 
Variation of 
Condition - 
App 

16/04/2020 

P/20/0056 70 Brecon Rise 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2EF 
 

New vehicular access and two off road 
parking spaces with associated retaining 
works 

Full Approval 28/05/2020 

Page 107



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0058 Maes Y Coed  
29 The Hawthorns 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2EJ 
 

First floor side extension and two storey 
rear extension 

Full Approval 09/04/2020 

P/20/0059 25 Park Place 
Penydarren Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0DJ 
 

Change of use of two/three storey 
property from 3 No. self contained 
residential units into a single 3 bedroom 
dwelling with storage facility at lower 
ground floor level 
 

Full Approval 09/04/2020 

P/20/0060 Willows House 
Abercanaid Industrial 
Estate 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YF 
 

Erection of 9 No. storage units Full Approval 23/04/2020 

P/20/0061 9 Millfield 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5LD 
 

Remove conservatory and construct 
single storey rear and side extension 

Full Approval 16/04/2020 

P/20/0062 4 Brynmair Terrace 
Merthyr Road 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9HJ 
 

Two storey rear extension Full Approval 09/04/2020 

P/20/0063 Grawen House 
Grawen Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NN 
 

Conversion and extension of existing 
garage building to provide a 1 bedroom 
dwelling.  Proposal to include 
associated external works to building 

Full Approval 25/06/2020 

P/20/0065 Treharris Pheonix RFC 
Forest Road 
Treharris 
 

Temporary permission for the siting of a 
steel container 

Full Approval 28/05/2020 

P/20/0066 37 Anthony Grove 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YX 
 

First floor extension above exiting 
ground floor extension 

Full Approval 16/04/2020 

P/20/0067 20 Millers Row 
Cardiff Road 
Treharris 
CF46 5DR 
 

Construct conservatory to the front of 
the property 

Refusal 23/04/2020 

Page 108



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0068 Former Vaynor & 
Penderyn School Site  
And Godre'r Coed 
Playing Field Site 
Old Church Street 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2RR 
 

Non material amendment to planning 
permission P/18/0311 to add window 
ventilation louvres, alter main entrance 
lobby, increase timber cladding to two 
first floor windows, change design of 
brise soleil fins and introduce small 
plant enclosure on roof 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

25/03/2020 

P/20/0070 6 Tai-yr-efail 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2DP 
 

Erect new front porch Full Approval 23/04/2020 

P/20/0071 Former Vaynor & 
Penderyn School Site 
And  
Godre'r Coed Playing 
Field Site 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of sprinkler tank and pump, 
refuse compound, bin store and sun 
shade sail 

Full Approval 04/05/2020 

P/20/0073 Garages At Junction Of 
Overton Street And 
Victoria Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Non material amendment to planning 
permission P/18/0363 to change 
windows from sliding sash windows to 
tilt and turn 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

02/04/2020 

P/20/0075 24 Cwrt Bevan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0AQ 
 

Convert garage to playroom Full Approval 30/04/2020 

P/20/0079 Plot 1 Greenacres 
Brondeg 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TP 
 

Non Material amendment to planning 
permission P/18/0401 for alterations to 
windows and doors, changes to 
garden/boundary walls and fence, 
change driveway surfacing materials to 
paviours, introduce side gate and 
timber screen and rearrange internal 
rooms 
 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

14/09/2020 

P/20/0080 26 Maesgwynne 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2SB 
 

Single storey rear extension Full Approval 27/04/2020 

P/20/0081 
 

2 Perthygleision Bridge 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4PP 
 

Two storey rear extension Full Approval 11/05/2020 

Page 109



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0082 Land To The Rear Of 
Ynysygored Cottages 
Aberfan Road 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QD 
 

Construction of gravel access track with 
grass central reservation 

Full Approval 06/08/2020 

P/20/0085 11 Tyllwyd Street 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9LE 
 

First floor rear extension Full Approval 25/06/2020 

P/20/0086 57 Lakeside Gardens 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1EW 
 

First floor side extension and two front 
bay windows 

Full Approval 11/06/2020 

P/20/0088 Kepak Group Ltd 
Pengarnddu Industrial 
Estate 
Dowlais Top 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Installation of a 6.2MW containerised 
ground source heat pump system with 
associated 40 No. 100m deep boreholes 

Full Approval 22/06/2020 

P/20/0089 14 Hawthorn Hill 
Trefechan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2ES 
 

Two storey and single storey rear 
extension 

Full Approval 28/05/2020 

P/20/0090 73 Pontmorlais  
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UN 
 

Single storey rear extension (featuring 
walkway above).  Alterations to door 
and window openings to rear elevation 

Full Approval 28/05/2020 

P/20/0091 Land At  Cropthorne 
Stables 
Shingrig Road 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
 

Proposed indoor menage building, 
horse walker / exerciser and the 
retention of the hardcore area 
(resubmission following refusal of 
P/19/0302) 

Refusal 04/09/2020 

P/20/0093 Land To The Rear Of 1 &  
2 Cyfarthfa Gardens 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Renewal of outline planning permission 
P/17/0169 (residential development in 
lieu of existing vehicle spraying 
business) 

Outline 
Approval 

18/06/2020 

  

Page 110



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0096 Land Adjacent To Lay-by 
On Road Between  
Bedlinog And Fochriw,  
Gelligaer And Merthyr 
Common 
 

Interpretation panel Advertisement 
Approval 

15/06/2020 

P/20/0097 10  & 11 Harlan 
Business Park 
Goat Mill Road 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3TE 
 

Retrospective Change of Use from "B" 
Use Class to an Ice Cream Parlour "A3" 
Use Class (resubmision following refusal 
P/19/0295) 

Full Approval 11/06/2020 

P/20/0098 Land To The Rear Of 
Ynysygored Cottages 
Aberfan Road 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Siting of static caravan for residential 
purposes 

Refusal 22/06/2020 

P/20/0100 7 Mardy Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0YH 
 

Conversion of garage Full Approval 22/06/2020 

P/20/0101 10 Fothergill Street 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0HT 
 

Demolish conservatory and erect single 
storey extension to side of property 

Full Approval 22/06/2020 

P/20/0103 Jacks Corner  
Forest Road 
Treharris 
CF46 5HG 
 

Construction of 4 bedroom detached 
residential dwelling 

Full Approval 03/09/2020 

P/20/0104 Plot Adjacent To 1 
Aberfan Fawr 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construct two storey dwelling Refusal 13/07/2020 

P/20/0106 18 Pen Cerrig Rise 
Brecon View Park 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1BF 
 

Convert garage into living 
accommodation 

Full Approval 22/06/2020 

P/20/0107 Caersalem Chapel 
The Rise 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Change of use from chapel (D1 use 
class) to chapel and 
undertakers/funeral directors (Sui 
Generis use class) 

Full Approval 29/06/2020 

Page 111



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0108 Railway Inn  
High Street 
Bedlinog 
Treharris 
CF46 6RP 
 

Change of use from public house  (A3 
Use Class) to 3 dwellings (C3 Use Class) 

Full Approval 22/09/2020 

P/20/0109 Land At Pant Industrial 
Estate 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of industrial units (Use Classes 
B1, B2, B8) and associated works 

Full Approval 12/08/2020 

P/20/0110 Hutton Hall  
37 Oakland Street 
Bedlinog 
Treharris 
CF46 6TE 
 

Single storey front extension Full Approval 09/07/2020 

P/20/0111 26 Parc Cwm Pant Bach 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TQ 
 

Single storey rear extension Full Approval 06/07/2020 

P/20/0112 61 Yew Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4EB 
 

First floor rear extension Full Approval 29/06/2020 

P/20/0113 Land At Yr Hen Llaethdy 
Kingsley Terrace 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Detached dwelling Outline 
Approval 

17/08/2020 

P/20/0114 Grawen House 
Grawen Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NN 
 

Proposed extensions and alterations to 
dwelling including construction of 
garage and orangery 

Full Approval 27/08/2020 

P/20/0115 74 Mount Pleasant  
Cardiff Road 
Merthyr Vale 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4TD 
 

Private garage in rear garden with 
garden terrace above and associated 
balustrading 

Full Approval 30/07/2020 

P/20/0117 30 Forest Grove 
Edwardsville 
Treharris 
CF46 5NG 
 

Garden summer house Full Approval 23/07/2020 

  

Page 112



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0118 8 Hawthorn Drive 
Dan Y Graig 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0LZ 
 

Single storey extension Full Approval 30/07/2020 

P/20/0123 94 Brecon Rise 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2EF 
 

First floor rear extension Full Approval 13/07/2020 

P/20/0124 The Cornerstone 
4 Gurnos Road 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9NH 
 

Front extension Full Approval 16/07/2020 

P/20/0125 32 Victoria Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3RN 
 

Change of use of property to two self 
contained flats with associated external 
alterations 

Full Approval 27/07/2020 

P/20/0126 9 Chestnut Way 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9SB 
 

Installation of an ATM  to the shopfront 
(retrospective) 

Full Approval 27/07/2020 

P/20/0127 9 Chestnut Way 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9SB 
 

Installation of ATM signage 
(retrospective) 

Full Approval 27/07/2020 

P/20/0128 54 Penn Street 
Treharris 
CF46 5HL 
 

Two storey rear extension (with 
basement storage area) 

Full Approval 04/08/2020 

P/20/0129 48 Primrose Hill 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0TF 
 

Single storey side extension Full Approval 23/07/2020 

P/20/0133 34 Pandy Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8PB 
 

Raise height of roof and construct 
dormer to rear and insert two skylight 
windows to front elevation 

Full Approval 21/08/2020 

  

Page 113



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0136 Land At Wern Isaf 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of garage Full Approval 18/08/2020 

P/20/0137 Brynyderw  
Oakland Street 
Bedlinog 
Treharris 
CF46 6TE 
 

Retention of fencing Full Approval 20/08/2020 

P/20/0138 Land To The South Of 
Evieon 
Maes Meyrick 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erecton of detached dwelling, garage 
and associated access/driveway 

Refusal 14/08/2020 

P/20/0140 37 Anthony Grove 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YX 
 

Single storey rear extension Full Approval 10/08/2020 

P/20/0142 17 Duffryn Fawr 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DN 
 

Two storey and single storey rear 
extensions and driveway to the front of 
the property 

Full Approval 20/08/2020 

P/20/0143 Evedon 
8 Martin Close 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TY 
 

Construct rear single storey extension 
and rear dormer 

Full Approval 17/08/2020 

P/20/0144 Unit 16A2 
Pant Industrial Estate 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2SR 
 

Change of use from B1 (Business) to A3 
(Food and Drink) 

Full Approval 24/08/2020 

P/20/0145 Unit 16A1 
Pant Industrial Estate 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2SR 
 

Change of use from B1 use class 
(Offices) to A3 use class (Food and 
Drink) 

Full Approval 24/08/2020 

P/20/0147 48 First Avenue 
Galon Uchaf 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9UH 
 

Two storey side extension, single storey 
rear extension 

Full Approval 10/08/2020 

Page 114



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0148 104 High Street 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2PN 
 

Construction of a detached garage for 
use by shop and erection of 2m high 
fence 

Full Approval 13/08/2020 

P/20/0149 22 Oakfield Street 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QB 
 

Construct two storey and single storey 
rear extension 

Full Approval 26/08/2020 

P/20/0150 1 Old School Close 
Georgetown 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1DA 
 

Two metre high timber fence (and gate) 
to side boundary 

Full Approval 13/08/2020 

P/20/0154 46 Westwood Drive 
Treharris 
CF46 5BL 
 

Two storey rear extension Full Approval 10/08/2020 

P/20/0155 Redburn  
Christopher Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0UD 
 

Proposed side extension Full Approval 03/09/2020 

P/20/0159 17 Harlech Drive 
Castle Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1JU 
 

Retention of rear garden store building Full Approval 24/08/2020 

P/20/0161 Government Buildings 
Castle Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8TX 
 

Change of use of ground floor offices to 
retail units (A1 Use) 

Full Approval 21/09/2020 

P/20/0163 49 Bridge Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DX 
 

Change of use from tanning salon( Sui 
Generis) to a shop (A1 use) 

Full Approval 03/09/2020 

P/20/0164 41 Bryntaf 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2PU 
 

Construct two storey side extension Full Approval 24/08/2020 

P/20/0166 Pantycelyn 
Cherry Tree Way 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6AT 
 

Construction of granny annexe adjacent 
to existing garage 

Full Approval 29/09/2020 

Page 115



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0167 15 Gersanws 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NS 
 

Single storey rear extension Full Approval 24/08/2020 

P/20/0168 Ty Brychan  
22 Lansbury Road 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1HA 
 

Retention of 1 Passivhaus unit (to be 
used as an example only and not for 
residential purposes) with associated 
works 

Full Approval 03/09/2020 

P/20/0169 93 Beacon Heights 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1NN 
 

Two storey rear extension Full Approval 07/09/2020 

P/20/0170 52 Glebeland Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AT 
 

Change of use from offices (B1) to shop 
(A1) 

Full Approval 21/09/2020 

P/20/0171 Trinity Chapel  
Wesley Place 
Merthyr Vale 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4RS 
 

Convert the ground floor of the chapel 
into an artist studio with associated 
accommodation in the lower ground 
floor of the chapel and within the office 
building 

Full Approval 17/09/2020 

P/20/0173 
 

20 Oakfield Street 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QB 
 

Construct two storey rear extension and 
extend front canopy 

Full Approval 24/09/2020 

P/20/0175 19 Mountain Rise 
Brecon View Park 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1BB 
 

Erect single storey rear extension Full Approval 17/09/2020 

P/20/0177 1 Cyfarthfa Gardens 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2SE 
 

Removal of Condition 3 of Planning 
Permission P/20/0035 to enable an 
alternative external material (render 
and brick) 

Removal or 
Variation of 
Condition - 
App 

03/09/2020 

P/20/0179 The Wern Field 
Penlan View 
Ynysfach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Variation of condition 4 and 5 of 
planning permission P/19/0123 for new 
clubhouse and community hub 

Removal or 
Variation of 
Condition - 
App 

14/09/2020 

  

Page 116



App Np Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0180 73 Pontmorlais  
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UN 
 

Construction of rear escape staircase 
and landing 

Full Approval 07/09/2020 

P/20/0181 Ty Mefus 
Pentwyn Road 
Treharris 
CF46 5BS 
 

Attached garage to side and rear of 
property and front porch 

Full Approval 14/09/2020 

P/20/0182 87 Yew Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4EB 
 

Erect single storey rear extension Full Approval 29/09/2020 

P/20/0183 6 Sandbrook Place 
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0ES 
 

Non-material amendment to planning 
permission P/17/0060 for the addition 
of roof lights to the front and rear (to 
serve two bedrooms within the attic 
space) and alter the design and size of 
windows and/or doors to the front and 
rear elevations 
 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

20/08/2020 

P/20/0187 Mountain Hare Rugby 
And Football Fields 
Pantyffyn Road 
Mountain Hare  
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

New footpath linking changing rooms to 
football pitch 

Full Approval 14/09/2020 

P/20/0193 St Tydfil Shopping 
Centre 
River Walk 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EW 
 

Non-material amendment to planning 
application P/19/0194 for alterations to 
shopping centre 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

03/09/2020 

P/20/0196 Brynderwyn 
11 The Villas 
Cardiff Road 
Treharris 
CF46 5NH 
 

Single storey rear extension Full Approval 21/09/2020 

P/20/0207 13 Harlech Drive 
Castle Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1JU 
 

Non material amendment to planning 
permission P/19/0121 to provide 
additional window to front elevation of 
extension 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

14/09/2020 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 P/20/0025 - Former Ardagh Site, Dragon Parc, Abercanaid, Merthyr Tydfil
	4 P/20/0102 - 16 The Park, Treharris, CF46 5RH
	5 P/20/0176 - 26 Courtland Terrace, Union Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 0DT
	6 Appeal Decision - P/18/0310
	7 Appeal Decision - P/18/0373
	8 Appeal Decision - P/18/0377
	9 Appeal Decision - P/19/0038
	10 Appeal Decision - P/19/0187
	11 Appeal Decision - P/19/0249
	12 Appeal Decision - P/19/0328
	13 Enforcement Appeal Received - PE180110
	14 Enforcement Appeal Decision - PE180004
	15 Enforcement Appeal Decision - PE180119
	16 Enforcement Appeal Decision - PE190018
	17 Delegated Report

